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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

COURT OF JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE 


1) 

IN RE: 

Joseph J. O'Neill 

Former Municipal Court Judge 

First Judicial District 

Philadelphia County 4 JD 2016 


MOTION TO CONSOLIDATE PENDING BOARD COMPLAINTS 

AND NOW, this 30th day of September, 2016, comes the Judicial Conduct Board 

of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (Board), by and through the undersigned 

counsel, and files this Motion to Consolidate Pending Board Complaints pursuant to 

Rule 701 of the Court of Judicial Discipline Rules of Procedure, and in support thereof, 

avers the following: 

1. On March 11, 2015, the Board filed a Complaint against Judge Joseph J. 

O'Neill at 4 JD 2015, charging him with violations of Canons 2B, 3A(4), 3B(3) and 

3C(1) of the former Code of Judicial Conduct, effective through November 30, 2014, 

and violations of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Article V, § 

17(b), as an automatic derivative violation, and the Disrepute and Administration of 

Justice Clauses of Article V, § 18(d)(1). A true and correct copy of the Board 

Complaint is attached hereto as Attachment 1 (March 11, 2015 Board Complaint). 

2. On March 11, 2015, the Board filed a Petition for Relief for Interim 

Suspension With or Without Pay against Judge O'Neill. 

3. Trial in the matter was scheduled before this Court on January 29, 2016. 

4. On January 26, 2016, Assistant United States Attorney Richard Barrett 

of the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania notified 



Board counsel that federal charges would be filed against Judge O'Neill in the near 

future, 

5. On January 26, 2016, AUSA Barrett provided notice to the Board that 

the primary witness for the Board, FBI Special Agent Eric H. Ruona, who was also the 

lead agent in a federal investigation pertaining to Judge O'Neill, would not be 

permitted to testify at the planned January 29, 2016 trial in In re O'Neill, 4 JD 2015. 

6. Based upon notice from AUSA Barrett, on January 27, 2016, Board 

counsel and Judge O'Neill's counsel filed a Joint Motion to Defer Trial in In re O'Neill, 

4 JD 2015. 

7. By Order dated January 27, 2016, this Court continued the trial in this 

matter. 

8. Contemporaneously with the filing of this Motion, Board Counsel is filing 

a Board Complaint against Judge O'Neill alleging three counts of judicial misconduct. 

See Attachment 2 (September 30, 2016 Board Complaint). 

9. The charges contained within both Board Complaints arise from a 

common core of facts such that eVidence pertaining to each would be admissible in 

separate trials. 

10. The evidence regarding the charges is separable and distinct. 

11. Judicial economy will be best served by this Court conducting a joint 

trial of the separately filed Board Complaints and/or considering stipulations of fact 

from the parties. 

12. Samuel C. Stretton, Esquire, counsel for Judge O'Neill, has informed 

undersigned counsel that he does not oppose this Motion for Consolidation. 



WHEREFORE, it is respectfully requested that this Honorable Court enter an 

order consolidating the Board's March 11, 2015 Board Complaint and the September 

30, 2016 Board Complaint for purposes of trial. 

Respectfully submitted, 

ROBERT A. GRACI 
Chief Counsel 

DATE: September 30, 2015 BY:~4MMP(~
ELIZ A. FLMlERff 
Deputy Counsel 
Pa. Supreme Court ID No. 205575 

Judicial Conduct Board 
601 Commonwealth Avenue, Suite 3500 
Harrisburg, PA 17106 
(717) 234-7911 
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COMMDl\iWi;ALTHQF PENNSYLVANIA 

COURT OF JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE 


IN RE: 


Joseph J. O'Neill 

.,fiJunjelpal Court Juqge . 

First Judicia! District 
Philadelphia County 4 JD 2015 

. TO: Jo'seph l. O'Neill 
N 

YCUj llre hereby notified that the Pennsylvania Judicial Conduct floard 

has determined thtJ!t there isprobabfe cawn:~ to fila formal charges against 

you for conduct prnscl'ibed by Article V,§§17{b)ilnd IBtdH!) of the 

COl1stitution of the Commonwealth otPennsvlvaniaand Canons lll, 3A(4), 

3B(3}, and Se{l} of the Old Cedenf Judicial CondUct. The Board t
$ counsel 

wm present the case in support of the charges befpre thePel1nsylvania 

Cou,rt of Judicial Dis·eipline. 

You have all absolute right. to be represented bV a lawyer in an 

proceedings before the Court of Judh::ia1biscipline. Your attorney should 

fHe an entry tlf appearance with the Court of Judicia' Discipline within 

fifteen (15) days of $ervice of this aQ~td Co.m,p~aint In ac·cordance with 

C.J.D.R.P. No. 110. 

You are hereby notified, pursuant to C.J.D.R.P. No, 302(B), that 

should you elect to file an omnJbus motion, that rrt,otion sho.uld be filed no 
later than thirty (30) daysaUer the service of this Complatnt in accordance 

with C.l.D.R.P. No. 411. 



You are further hereby notified thatwittain thirty (30) days after the 

service Df thlsComphdnt, if no omnibus motion is fUediar within twenty 

(~O) days after the dismissa'l of all or part ~ the Dmnibus motion, you may 

file an Answer admitting or denying theilUegationscontained in thi~ 

Complaint In accordance with C.l.D..R.P1i No, 413. FaUure to file an .Answer 

shan [be deemed a denial of aU f.;lcbu.d allegations in the Complaint" 
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COMPLAINT 

AND NOW, thIs 11th daycif March/:'WHit comes the Judicial Conduct Board 

of th~ Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (Board) ahd files this Board ComplaInt 

against the Honorable Joseph ],O'NeiIJ, Jl,ildge of the Municipal Court of 

PhIladelphia. The Board alleges trmt Judge O'Neffl viola.ted the ConstituUon of the 

commonwealth of Pennsylvanlal Artide V, §§ 17{b) anrl18{d){1), and the Code of 

Judicial Conduct delineated more speciflcafly as follows: 

1. AI'Udl: Vi § 18 of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of 

Pentlsylvaniagmnts to the Board theauthotity to determine whether thefe is 

prohabl£ cause to file forma! charges against a judicial .officer in this Court, and 

thereafterl to prosec\.Jte the case in support of such charges If'l this Court. 

2. rromNovember 15, 2007 to the present tIme] Judge QfNeUl has 

served as Judge ofthe Municipal Court of PhHaaelphia,PennsylvarHq. 

3. On or about September 24, 2014t Munlcipal Court Preside.nt Judge 

fJlarsha Neiffeid verbaUyinformed Judge O'Neil! that he was reassigned to limited 

judicial duties unW further notice. 

4, As a Municipal Court Judge, Judge O'NeIll iSJ and was at atl times 

relevant hereto, subject to all tne duties and resp,onsTbillUes imposed on him by the 

ConstitutIon of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the Cod:e of Judicial 

Conduct. 

5, Based on a Confidential Request for Investigation at Jea file No. 2014

5791 the Board investigated the Instant matter, 
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6. As a result of Its il1vestigi;ltiol1, and pursuant to Artlde Vr § 18(a)(7} of 

the Constitution of the Commonwf!alth of PennsyJwmla l theBQara determined that 

there ts probable cause to file formal charges agalnst Judge O'Neill In this Court. 

A.EKPARTE COMMUNItATIO NS 

7. In 2011, both judge O'Neill and former Judge Joseph C, Watersl Jr. 

served as f'-hmic.;lpal Court judges in Ph1l6tIelphha i Pennsylvania" 

B. Asa result or an investigation, the United States Attorneyst Offlce for 

the Eastern District of Pennsylvania filed a two count Inrormiltion against former 

Judge Waters, 

9, On September 24/ 2014 1 former Jt~dge Waters entered a negotIated 

guilty plea. in the United Stales District court for the Etlstern District of 

Pennsylvania to one count qf marl fraud (18 U,5,C. §§ 1341 and 2) and one ,count 

of honest services wtre fraud (Ul U.S,C. §§ 1343, 13456no 2). United States v. 

Waterst Crlm.inal No, 14-478. 

10, WithIn the negotiated Guilty Plea Agreement pf former Judge WatersJ 

which incorporates the two count InformationJ are statements of fact clemonstratlng 

that he inItiated ex parle communlcati-ons with Judge O'NeW (Judge #,2) pertaIning 

to a civil matter, Houdini Lock & Safe Company v. Donegal Investment Property 

Management Servicesl Case No. SC"11-08-D9~4192, 

Houdini v~Donegal 

U. Person #1, Samuel I<uttab, ,a. politically active businessman: is an 

owner and manager of Donega! Investment Property Management Services 

(Donegal),ideritified as Company A In the two count Information, a real estate 

mana$jement business, 
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12, J(uttab provided poHtkal support to former Judge Waters during his 

2009 quest for appointment to the bench. 

13. kuttab provided political and flni:Jncial support to former Judge Waters 

durtng his 2009 judfdal campaign for the ''''unicipal Court and during his 2011 

exploration of a possible nm for the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia. 

14. HoudIni lock&. Safe Company (HoudlnU,id·entlfiedas Company B In 

the two count Information, a petnurylvania corporationt ~ntered into a serviCes 

COtltnH:t with Dc:megal to provide monitoring and testing of a fire alarm system at a 

Donegal property on North Broad Street,Pt;Hi3oeiphla; PA.. 

15.10 accord with the contract,; Houdini prOVided the agreed upon seri..,lces 

to the fire alarm .system at the Donegal property, 

15. 011 AlJgust 91 20~ 1t Plaintiff Houdini flied a Statement of Claims 

against Defendant DonegalJ claiming that Donegal failed to pay Houdini for Ule 

services it provided to Donega'i under the terms of the contrad. 

17. A heartng on the Houdini v. Donegal matter wii\sscheduled before 

Judge Segal on September 30, 20,11. 

18. On qr about September 3D, 2011, counsel for Donegal and Kuttab 

entered a motlonforCl continuance, stathl9 that he needed more time to prepare 

for the trial. Attorney for Plaintiff Houdini opposed the motion. 

19. On September 3D, 2011 , Judge Segal presided over the Houdini 

hearing/granted the defense continuance and ordered that the case ptocei;!cl to tria! 

without any further defense continuances. 

20" Subsequently, the Houdini trial W;!s schedu.led far November 16 t 2011 

before J.udge O'Neill. 
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21. On or-about November 161 20111. former Judge Waters called Judge 

OfN~fII on the telephone about the Houdini trial that was 'pendIng before hIm, 

22. During the November 161 2011 telephone c{)nversation,former Judge 

Waters informed Judge O'Neill that 1'Oonega.t Kuttab/' Identified Kuttaht as\\a 

friend ,of mlna/' and asked ,Judge O'Neill to "t.ake a hard look at It/, referring to the 

Houdlnl v. Donegal case. 

23. The two count Informa.tion Indudesthe following quoted.!anguage 

from a NOYem,oer 16, 2011, recorded telephone conversation between former Judge 

Waters and Judge O'NeIllJ identified as Judge #2: 

WATERS: Un, you got a case this efternoot1, [CompanyB. 
v. Cornpany A]. A'll right~uh - ~ 

JUDGE #2.: Yeah? You got me, 

\PlATERS: Huh? 

JUDGE #2: You got me. Do I7 

WATERS~ Yeah, [Company A] is {Person #l]~ Hefsa friend 
of mlrlt~; So if you c;im take a hard look at it. 

JUDGE #2: Who's your gUil? The defendan~? 

WATERS: Yeah, the defendant, 

Judge #2: OKay. 

WATERS: AU rtght? 

Judge #2: No problem, 

24, On or about November 16, 20111 Judge O'NeHl presided over the 

Houdini v. Donegal trial. 

25. During the November 16, 2011 Houdini v, Donegal trial, Kuttab 

testified on behalf of his company, Donegal. 
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26, At the conclusion of the triat, Judge oJN~mentered judgment in favor 

of Donegal and against Houdini, dismissing HoudiniJs claim that Donegt'H failed to 

pay Houdini for .servi,ces rendered and its claim for darnagesin the amount of 

$2,738A4. 

27. Houdini's attorney provided notice to Kuttaband Donogal that it 

planned to 'file an appeal ftom Judge O'Neill's decision in Houdini v.Donega/ln the 

Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia, 

28. Fornier Judge Waters advIsed I<uttaband Donegal to enter into a 

settlement agreemertwith I"iouciinf rather than be sUbjectto the appea! process. 

29, As a result of the settlement negoUations1 the p:arties entered Ihtoa 

settlement agreement vvhereby Kuttabl on behalf of Donegal! agreed to pay $600 

to Houdini instead of $2/738,44!the fuU amount of Hmldlnlfs damages claim. 

3D. The November 16, 2011 rt:lcorded telephone conversation, quoted at 

Part;igraph No, 23 above, demonstrates that Judge O'Neill participated in ex patte 

communication with former Judge Waters about the Houdini trial, a matter that was 

pending before him. 

31. The November 16, 2011 recorded telephone torwersatlon i quoted at 

Paragraph No, 23 above, demonstrates that Judge O/Neill ehtertalned all ex parte 

request to provide favorable treatment to the litigant, Donegal~ and to Kuttao, who 

is politically connected with ora friend of former Judge Waters. 

32. Judge O'NeiWs ruling in Houdini favored!<utta:b and Donegal, the 

fitig.~nt for whom former Judge Waters requested spe\cial consideration during the 

ex parte telephone conversation. 
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33. The purpose of the November 16, 2011 telephone cal! from former 

Judge Waters to judge O'Neill WqS to provide a "secret advantagei
' tn kuttab and 

Donegal. 

34. The "secret luilvantage/I was to prevent Houdini from receiving 

payment for security services rendered to Donegal. 

3S. By hIs November 16, 2011 . ex PiJrte cornmtmlcattonj Judge Waters 

intended to and did use hls pOSition as judge to infhJence Judge Q/Neill's decision at 

the Houdini v. Donegal tria I. 

36. On t:Jovember 16, 2011, Judge O'Neill did not tell fqrmer Judge. Waters 

to stop the ex parte r~quest for special consideration or inform him that he would 

not provide preferential treatment to DQf1cgaland Kuttab, 

37. At the November 16t 2011 Houdini trial, JtJoge O'Nem did not disclose 

to the litigants and their attorneys that he engaged In ex parte communication with 

former :ludge Waters prior to the proceeding, 

38, On November 16~ 2011{ Judge QkNeHldid not recuse himself from the 

November 16r 2011 Houdini trlal l despite his ex parte communTcation with former 

Judge Waters prior to the proceeding. 

39. Judge O'Neill did not timely report illS November 16, 2011 ex. parte 

telephone communication with former Judge Waters regarding the Houdini matter 

to the Judicia! Conduct Soard. 
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B. CHARGES 


COUNT 1 

40. By virtue of some arar! of the facts se~ forth in Part Al Judge O~Nem 

violated Canon 26 of the Old Code of Judicial Goru::iuct! effectilve through June 3D, 

2,014, and js therefore subject to discipline pursuant to Article V, § lB(dHl} of the 

Pennsylvanla Constitution. 

41, Canon 28 provTdesln part: 

Juqg~s shoUid not ',' ,.convey or kl10Wtngly permit others 
to {:onvey the impreSSIon that they are in a special 
position to Influence the judge. 

42, On Nov~mber 161 2011, Judge O'Neill engaged Tn ex parte 

comrmmkation with former Judge Waters about the HOLJdlnl trialj a matter pending 

befOre him. 

43, .on November 16, 2011, Judge OINelll failed to tell Judge Waters to 

stop communicating with him about the Houdini matter that was pending before 

hlln, 

44, On or after November 16{ 2011, Jud,ge O'Neill fat/ed to advise former 

Judge Waters that he wpuld not consider his ex parte te~ephone.commLmlcati(m 

when deciding the Noudlni matter. 

45. By his faIlure to put a stop to the November 16, 2011 ex parte 

communIcation wIth former Judg~ Waters1 Judge O'Neill conveyed the impression to 

Judge Waters and others"ifu:I!Jdlng Kuttab i:1 nd Donegal; that he was receptive to 

requests for special consideratioh. 
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46. By his fa1iure to put a stop to the November 161 2011 ex parte 

communication with former Judge Waters, Judge O'N~lllcohveved the Impression to 

Judge Waters ,~md toothersJ im:h.,lcHng I<u~tab and Donegal l that Judge Waters was 

in a speclaf position to Influence him, 

47. By his faih.ifc; to advise formerludge Waters that he Woufd not 

conSider the November 16/ 2011 ex parte cornmunicaUonl Judge O~Nem perrnittea 

former Judge Waters to convey the impression to others: including Kuttab and 

Ooru~gall that he was In a speCial position to influence Judge Q'NeiU. 

4B. By his judgment In favor of DOllegal~tthe. Hgudlnf trial, whi~h v~a~ III 

accord with Judge Waters' Novernber 16 j 2011 ex parte request for special 

Cbnslderatiol1~ Judge OfNeJl1 conveyed the impres$liOn to Judge Waters and others, 

including Kuttab and Donegali tFmt former Judge Waters was in a special position to 

influence his Judicial decisiol'lS. 

49. By his judgment in favor of Donegal ~n the Houdini case l Judge O'Neill 

conveyed the impression to Judge Waters and others, Including Kuttab and 

Donegall that he provJded preferential treatment to the litfgilnts in accord with 

Judge Waters' November 161 2011 ex parte request for special conSideration. 

50. Asa result of aU of the conduct set forth above, Judge OiNeill violated 

Canon 2B or the Old Code of Judicia! Conduct. 

COUNt Z, 

51, By virtue of some or all of the facts set forth in Part AI Judge Q/Neill 

VIolated Canon 3A(4) of the Old Code of Judkial Conduct, effective through June 

30,20141 and is therefore subject to discipline pursuant to Article V, § 18(d}(1) of 

the Pennsylvania Constitution. 
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52, Canon 3A{4} proscrJbes ex pl1lte communicqtion and provides Inpc:!tt: 

Judge.s • • ~except as al,lthonzed bylqw1 mllst not 
cohsiderex parte communications com:ernlng q pending 
proce~din9. 

53; 00. November 16, 201lt Judge Q1NeWengaged in ex parte 

communication with former judge Waters about the Houdini caSE', a proceeding 

pending before hlm that same Day, 

54, ludge O'Nelfl was not authorized by JqW to engage in ex parte 

communlctllition with former 3udge Wat~rs regarding the Houdini matter. 

55, As a result of all of the conduct set forth abov¢, Judge O'Neill violated 

Canon 3A(4),ofthe Old Code of Judiclai Conduct 

56, By virbue of some or at! of the facts set forth in Part At Judge O'Nelil 

violated Canon 38(3) of the Old Code of Judicial Conduct: effective through June 

30/ 20141 and i.5 therefore subject to dlsdpline pursuant to Article V, § 18(d}{1) of 

the Pennsytvania Constitution, 

57. 	 Canon 36(3) provides: 


Judges should .. take or lhltIateappropriate rHscipJinary 

measures against a judge or lawyer for unprofessional 

(;;onduct of which the judge may become aware, 


58, Jud·ge O'NellishDuld have recognized that the November 16, 2011 

telephone conversation with 'former Judge Waters about the HOl1dinl case was a 

prohibited ex parte communication about a pending proceeding and therefore,' 

unprofessional conduct, 
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59. Judg·e O'Neill had a duty to timely notify the JiJ,dldal Conduct 6oi:)rd 

that former Judge Waters InitIated ex pBrte communication wlth him regarding the 

HoudIni matter when that casewa.s pendlnQ l;lt~forehjrn, 

60. Judge orNem faHed to notify the JudIdal Conduct l3oa.rdapo.ut the ex 

parte com munltatlon with former Judge Watersabollt the Houdiril matter, despJte 

his knowledge of the duty to take appmpriate dIscIplinarY m~asure5 agalm.t former 

judge Waters, 

6LAs a result of all of the conduct set forth above, Judge Q'NeiU violated 

Calion 3A(4) of the Old Code or Judicial ConQuct, 

COUNT 4 

62. ay v!rtueo[ so;me or all of the fads set forth in Part A, Judge O;Neiil 

VIolated Canon 3C(1} of the Old Code of Judidal Cond~lct, ~ffective through June 

301 2014, and Is therefore .subject to discipline pursuant to Article VI § 18{d)(1} of 

the Pennsylvania Constitution. 

63, Canon 3C(1) provides in part~ 

Judges should disqualify themselves tn a. proceeding in 
which theirlmpaM;iality might reasonably be qyestionedl 

including but not limited to Instances where; 

(a) they have· 
party .••• 

a personal bias or prejudice concerning a 

64. On November 16, 2011, Judge Q1Neill engaged inf!!x parte 

communication vtlith' former Judge Waters about the Houdini case, a proceeding 

pending before him that same day. 

65, On November 16, 2.011, Judge OtNeHI had a duty to recuse himself 

from the HrJUdinf proceedings because his Impartiality might reason11lbly be 
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questio'ned after JUdge Waters requested preferential treatment for I<uttab and 

Donegal, 

66. On November 16,2.011, Judge OiNelII faHed to recuse himself from the 

Houdinl prm;:eedlngs,even though his impartiality as to Kuttab and DaneQal could 

reasonably be questioned foUawlng the ex'paite communiCation with former Judge 

Waters" 

67. As a result of all of the ,conduct set forth above t Judge O'Neill violated 

Canon Sen) of the Old Code of Judicial Conduct 

COUNT 5 

68. By virtue of some or all of the facts set forth in Part AI Judge O'Neil! 

violated Article V, § 17(b) of the tonstitutlt:m of the (omrnrmwei)\th of 

Pennsylvania, and is therefore subject to disclplJne purSlmnt to Article VI § IB(d)(l) 

of the PennsylvanIa Constitution. 

69~ 	 Artklf; V, § .17{b) provides In part; 

JustIces, and judges shall not , • , v!olate any canon of 
legal Oi' judiCia! ethics prescrlbed by the SupremeCotJrt, 

70, A violation of the Code of Judicial Conduct is an automatic derivative 

violation of Article V,§17{b), 

71. By his condu~t i'jS set forth abovej Judge O'Neill Violated Article V, § 

17(b) as a direct result of his vlolations of Canons 2Bf 3A(4)~,3B(3) and 3C(1), 

COONT 6 

72, By virtue of some or ,all .of the facts set forth in Part AI Judge O'Neill 

violated the Administration of Justice Clause of Article V~ § 18(d){1} of the 

Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsyl'Vaniaand Is therefore subject to 

discipline, 
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73. Article V, §lS(d)(l) provides in pertinent part: 

A jljstice, jud!;Jeor justice. of the peace may be 
sM$pended, removed from offke or otherwls~ disciplined 
for·.. conduct which prejudIces the: proper 
administration of jUstice •• , 

74. Judge Q1NelH engaged in conduct which prejudiced the proper 

adminlstratronof justice when he particrpated in ex parte communIcation with 

former Judge Waters regardlng the HDudini trial, a proceeding pending before him, 

75, Judge Q1Neili ~ngaged in conduct whiChprejudlted the proper 

adminIstration of jllstice when he faHed to :recuse himself from the November 16, 

~ 2011 Hm.Jdini trist a proceecHl1g pending before hlrn •. 

76. Judge O'Neill engaged In conduct which prcjudlced~he proper 

aqmin!stration of justice becuu.s,e the litigants In the Houdini case; for \'~homforrner 

Judge Waters r~quested5peClal consideration, did in fact receive a faVorable 

judgmantat the November 16, 2.011 ttlal; whereas; the OppOShlg party and 

opposingcQuns[;1 in Houdinr knew nothing about the ex pa,rte communication 

beh.'lfeen Judge Q'NeH! and former Judge Waters, 

77. By ali of hIs tonciuct as set forth Clbove, Judge O'Neill Violated the 

Administration of Justice Clause of Article V, § te(d)!1}, 

COUNT 7 

78, By vIrtue of some or all of the facts set forth in Pa.rtAl Judge O'NeHI 

vTolated ttle Dlsrepute Clause of Article V, § 18(d){1) of the Constitution of the 

Commonwealth of PennsylvanJa and [5 therefore subject to diSCipline. 
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79. Article VI § 18(d)(1) provides In pertinent part: 

A justice j Judge .or. j u5tlce .of the peace may be 
suspended, removed from ·office or othenvise. disciplIned 
for.~ .conductwhfch , • , bringsthejucllc;:lal o.fficeinto 
disrepute; v'/hetfwr or not the conduct oCt:urred while 
actlng in a juditial capacity. 

80. Judge O',NeiH engaged in cotuluct which brougnt the jUdicIal office Into 

disrepute when he participated In ex parfe communication with former Judge 

Waters regarding the HaudJnltrial~ a proceeding pending before him, 

81. Judge O'NeIll e:ngagedin conduct whIch brought the judlcia'i office into 

disrepute when he FaHed to re,ctlse himself from this Houdini trial,a proceeding 

pending befon; 111m. 

engaged in conduct so extreme as to bring disrepute upon the jUd~cial offjce itself 1n 

viol~tlonof the Disrepute Clause of Article V, § lB(d)(l). 

83. By ail of hIs conQuct as 5"et forth above, Judge O'Neill violated the 

Disrepute Clause of Article V, § IB{d){l). 
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WHEREFORE, Joseph J. ptNcW, MunicIpal Court Judger is subject to 

dIsciplinary action pursuant to the Constitution of Pennsylvania, Article VI § 

IB(d)(l). 

ROBERT A. GRACI 

Chief'Cpunsel . 


DATE: Match 11,2015 By; 
.m:;TH 

Deputy Counsel 
P~1. Supreme Camt ID No. 205575 

Judici9! Con~uct Board 
601 Cotnmoriwea'ith Avenuc, Sllite 3500 
Hattisburg t PA 17106 
{JI7) 234~7911 
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COMMONWEALTH Of peNNSYLVANIA 

COURT OF JUDICIALD!SCIPllNE 


IN RE; 


.lo5~ph J, O'NelH 

F'4un1c!pQ] CO\J.rt Judge 

First Jl,ldlci~1 District .• . 


Philadelphia County 4JD .2015 


VERIF.ICe,UON 

If Elizaheth A. Flaherty; Deputy Counsel to the Jl)dicial Conduct Board, verify 

that: the Judicial Conduct Board found probable cau5~to flIe the formal dlarges 

contain~d in the Board Complaint I understand that the statements herein are 

made subject to the penalties of 18 Pa~Com;" Stat. Ann. § 4904, relating to 

unsworn fa!sific:aHon to!:Hlthoritles, 

Respectfully submitted; 

ROBERT A. GRACI 
Chief Counsel 

March 11~ 2015 

Judiciill Conduct BOilrd 
Pennsylva:nia ludici;::H Center 
~Pl CommonWealth AveniJe f SuIte 3500 
P.O. Box 62525 
Harrisburg, PA 17106 

p(17) 234 7911 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSy~VANIA 
COURT OF ;JUDICIAL .DISCIPLINE 

IN RE; 


Joseph j. Q'Nt:1H 
MUnicipal Court Judge 
FlrstJudlcial District 
Philadelphia county 4 JD 2015 

Pf{QOF OF SERVICE 

In C;QmpHance wIth iRuie 12.2(0) of the Court of Judldal Discipline Rules of 
"", .. 

Procedure, on or about t-1an:h 11, 20151 a copy of thIs BOARD COlvJPLAINT was sent 

by Ce.rtlfied Mati to Judge Q'Neilll,scouf1sel, Samuel C, Stretton, fsquire~ who 

agreed to accept service on behalf of his dient1 Judge O'Neill: 

Samuel C, Strettof1 
Attorney at .Law 

301 South High Street 
P.O. Box 3231 

WestChester, PA 19381-3231 

CenifiedMaH Nil, 716171455373 0150 1911 
Return. Receipt Requested 

Respectfully submittedI 

ROBERT A, GRACI 
Chief Counsel 

;(1 • 

March lit 2015 BY: 

Pa, Supreme court ID No., 205575 
Judicia! Conduct Board 
Pennsylvi:lnla Judicial Center 
6tH Commonwealth Avenue, Suite 3500 
P.O. Box 62525 
Harrisburgl PA 17106 
(717) 234..7911 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

COURT OF JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE 


IN RE: 

Joseph J. O'Neill 

Former Municipal Court Judge 

First Judicial District 

Philadelphia County 4 JD 2016 


TO: loseph l. O'Neill 

You are hereby notified that the Pennsylvania ludicial Conduct Board 

has determined that there is probable cause to file formal charges against 

you for conduct proscribed by Article V, §§ 17(b) and 1S(d)(1) of the 

Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The Board's counsel 

will present the case in support of the charges before the Pennsylvania Court 

of ludicial Discipline. 

You have an absolute right to be represented by a lawyer in all 

proceedings before the Court of ludicial Discipline. Your attorney should file 

an entry of appearance with the Court of ludicial Discipline within fifteen 

(15) days of service of this Board Complaint in accordance with C.l.D.R.P. 

No. 110. 

You are hereby notified, pursuant to C.l.D.R.P. No. 302(B), that should 

you elect to file an omnibus motion, that motion should be filed no later than 

thirty (30) days after the service of this Complaint in accordance with 

C.l.D.R.P. No. 411. 



, ' 

You are further hereby notified that within thirty (30) days after the 

service of this Complaint, if no omnibus motion is filed, or within twenty (20) 

days after the dismissal of all or part of the omnibus motion, you may file an 

Answer admitting or denying the allegations contained in this Complaint in 

accordance with C.l.D.R.P. No. 413. Failure to file an Answer shall be 

deemed a denial of all factual allegations in the Complaint. 
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BOARD COMPLAINT 


AND I\lOW, this 30th day of September, 2016, comes the Judicial Conduct Board 

of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (Board), by and through the undersigned 

counsel, and files this Board Complaint against the Honorable Joseph J. O'Neill, 

former Judge of the Municipal Court of Philadelphia. The Board alleges that Judge 

O'Neill violated the Constitution of the Commonwealth ofPennsylvania, Article V, §§ 

17(b) and 18(d)(1), delineated more specifically as follows: 

1. Article V, § 18 of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania grants to the Board the authority to determine whether there is 

probable cause to file formal charges against a judicial officer in this Court, and 

thereafter, to prosecute the case in support of such charges in this Court. 

2. From November 15, 2007 until February 2, 2016, Judge O'Neill served 

as Judge of the Municipal Court of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. 

3. On or about September 24, 2014, Municipal Court President Judge 

Marsha Neifield verbally informed Judge O'Neill that he was reassigned to limited 

judicial duties until further notice. 

4. As a result of the reassignment, Judge O'Neill continued to perform 

limited judicial duties at the Municipal Court until February 2, 2016. 

5. As a Municipal Court Judge, Judge O'Neill was at all times relevant 

hereto, subject to all the duties and responsibilities imposed on him by the 

Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the Code of Judicial Conduct. 

6. On February 2, 2016, this Court entered an Order at 4 JD 2015, granting 

the Board's Petition for Relief and suspending Judge O'Neill without pay. 
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A. CRIMINAL CONDUCT 

7. On March 2, 20161 the federal government filed a Grand Jury 

Indictment, charging Judge O/Neili with two counts of making false statements to 

federal agents in violation of Title 181 United States Code l Section 1001 1 which 

occurred during the FBI's investigation of ex parte communications between Judge 

OINeili and former Municipal Court Judge Joseph C. Waters about a Municipal Court 

case l Houdini Lock and Safe Co. v. Donegal Investment Property Management 

ServicesI SC-II-0e-09-4192. A true and correct copy of the Grand Jury Indictment 

is attached heretol incorporated by reference and marked as Board Exhibit 1. 

8. On May 261 20161 Judge O/Neili appeared at a hearing before U.S. 

District Court Judge Juan R. Sanchez of the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and 

entered a guilty plea to two counts of making false statements to federal agents in 

violation of 18 U.S.c. § 1001. A true and correct copy of the Guilty Plea Agreementl 

executed by the partiesl is attached heretol incorporated by reference and marked 

as Board Exhibit 2. 

9. A violation of 18 U.S.c. § 1001 is a felony. 

10. By letter dated May 31 1 20161 Judge OINeili submitted his resignation 

from his position as Municipal Court Judge to Governor Thomas Wolf, effective May 

261 2016. 

11. On September 71 20161 U.S. District Judge Sanchez imposed sentence 

upon Judge O/Neili as follows: four-years of probation for each of the two counts of 

making false statements to federal agents l to run concurrently I with the first six 

months to be served as unmonitored house arrest; 200 hours of community servicel 
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and a $5,000 fine. A true and correct copy of the Judgment and Sentencing Order is 

attached hereto, incorporated by reference and marked as Board Exhibit 3. 

B. 	 CHARGES 


Count 1 


12. By virtue of some, or all of the facts set forth in Part A, Judge O'Neill 

violated the Felony Conviction Clause of Article V, § 18(d)(1) of the Constitution of 

the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is subject to discipline. 

13. Article V, § 18(d)(1) provides in 	pertinent part: 

A justice, judge or justice of the peace may be suspended, 
removed from office or otherwise disciplined for conviction 
of a felony; .... 

14. On May 26, 2016, Judge O'Neill entered a Guilty Plea Agreement with 

federal authorities to two counts of making false statements to federal agents. 

15. On September 7, 2016, U.S. District Judge Sanchez imposed sentence 

upon Judge O'Neill to an aggregate of four-years of probation, 200 hours of 

community service and a $5,000 fine. 

16. As a result of the sentencing, Judge O'Neill was convicted of two 

felonies. 

17. By all of his conduct as set forth above, Judge O'Neill violated the Felony 

Conviction Clause of Article V, § 18(d)(1). 

Count 2 

18. By virtue of some or all of the facts set forth in Part A, Judge O'Neill 

violated Article V, § 17(b) of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

and is therefore subject to discipline pursuant to Article V, § 18(d)(1) of the 

Pennsylvania Constitution. 
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19. Article V, § 17(b) provides in part: 

Justices and judges shall not engage in any activity 
prohibited by law and shall not violate any canon of legal 
or judicial ethics prescribed by the Supreme Court. 

20. By virtue of his conviction for two felony offenses of making false 

statements to federal agents in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 as set forth above, 

Judge O'Neill engaged in activity prohibited by law. 

21. By all of the conduct set forth above, Judge O'Neill violated Article V, § 

17(b). 

22. Count 3 

23. By virtue of some or all of the facts set forth in Part A, Judge O'Neill 

violated the Disrepute Clause of Article V, § 18(d)(1). 

24. Article V, § 18(d)(1) provides in pertinent part: 

A justice, judge or justice of the peace may be suspended, 
removed from office or otherwise disciplined for . . . 
conduct which ... brings the judicial office into disrepute, 
whether or not the conduct occurred while acting in a 
judicial capacity. 

25. By his conduct of making false statements to federal agents for which 

he was convicted of two felony offenses, Judge O'Neill engaged in conduct so extreme 

as to bring disrepute upon the judicial office itself. 

26. By all of the conduct set forth above, Judge O'l\Ieili violated the Disrepute 

Clause of Article V, § 18(d)(1). 
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WHEREFORE, Joseph J. O'Neill, former Municipal Court Judge, is subject to 

disciplinary action pursuant to the Constitution of the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania, Article V, § 18(d)(1). 

Respectfully submitted, 

ROBERT A. GRACI 
Chief Counsel 

DATE: September 30, 2015 By:~a);t-rh 7f.~ 
EU ~ A. FLAHERTY 
Deputy Counsel 
Pa. Supreme Court ID No. 205575 

Judicial Conduct Board 
601 Commonwealth Avenue, Suite 3500 
Harrisburg, PA 17106 
(717) 234-7911 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 


COURT OF JUDICIAL DISCIPLIN E 


IN RE: 


Joseph J. O'Neill 

Municipal Court Judge 

First Judicial District 

Philadelphia County 4 JD 2016 


VERIFICATION 

I, Elizabeth A. Flaherty, Deputy Counsel to the Judicial Conduct Board, verify 

that the Judicial Conduct Board found probable cause to file the formal charges 

contained in the Board Complaint. I understand that the statements herein are made 

subject to the penalties of 18 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 4904, relating to unsworn 

falsification to authorities. 

Respectfully submitted, 

ROBERT A. GRACI 
Chief Counsel 

September 30, 2016 	 BY: 
Elizab lahert 
Deputy Counsel 
Pa. Supreme Court 10 No. 20557 

Judicial Conduct Board 
Pennsylvania Judicial Center 
601 Commonwealth Avenue, Suite 3500 
P.O. Box 62525 
Harrisburg, PA 17106 
(717) 234-7911 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

COURT OF JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE 


IN RE: 


Joseph J. O'Neill 

Municipal Court Judge 


4 JD 2015First Judicial District 

Philadelphia County 


PROOF OF SERVICE 

In compliance with Rule 122 of the Court of Judicial Discipline Rules of 

Procedure, on September 30 2016, a date and time-stamped copy of the Board 

Complaint was served by UPS Overnight Air to Judge O'Neill's counsel, Samuel C. 

Stretton/ Esquire at the following address: 

Samuel C. Stretton, Esquire 

301 South High Street 


P.O. Box 3231 

West Chester, PA 19381-3231 


Respectfully submitted/ 

DATE: September 30, 2016 

Judicial Conduct Board 
Pennsylvania Judicial Center 
601 Commonwealth Avenue, Suite 3500 
P.O. Box 62525 
Harrisburg, PA 17106 
(717) 234-7911 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 

COURT OF JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE 


IN RE: 

Joseph J. O'Neill 

Municipal Court Judge 


4 JD 2015First Judicial District 

Philadelphia County 


PROOF OF SERVICE 

In compliance with Rule 122 of the Court of Judicial Discipline Rules of 

Procedure, on September 30 2016, a date and time-stamped copy of the Motion to 

Consolidate Pending Board Complaints was served by UPS Next Day Air to Judge 

O'Neill's counsel, Samuel C. Stretton, Esquire at the following address: 

Samuel C. Stretton, Esquire 

301 South High Street 


P.O. Box 3231 

West Chester, PA 19381-3231 


Respectfully submitted, 

DATE: September 30, 2016 

Judicial Conduct Board 
Pennsylvania Judicial Center 
601 Commonwealth Avenue, Suite 3500 
P.O. Box 62525 
Harrisburg, PA 17106 
(717) 234-7911 


